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iNKC FORM 1~91M PART 1 	 U.S. NUCL£AR REGULATORY COMMISSION 
(1Q-Z011)' 
10 Cl'R 2<2'Ill 

SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION 

1. LlCENSEEILOCATlON INSPECTeD: 	 2< NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE 

Schneider Regional Medical Center U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission 
9048 Sugar Estate Ragion I, 475 Allendale Road 
SL Thomas. Viraln Islands. 00802 

2012-001REPORT NUMBER(S) 
King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 1940tJ..1415 

3. DOCKET NUMBER(S} 

030-13764 1 
4. LlCE"'SE NUMBER(S) 

55-17986-01 15. OATE(S) OF lNSPECTlON 

2-8-12; 2-14-12 

LICENSEE: 

The in$pectl.~n was an examination of the ac\Mk$ conducted under your li~ as the'l relate Co radiation safety an<! to campl~arce v.ith the Nuclear 
Regulatory (:Ommisllicn {NRC) llJIes and regulations and file conditions 01 YOI.Ir license. The iflSpectlon oonsistad of sele~ve eJC9minations 01 
proced\.l~ and repre$$ntaliVi!I NIOOfCls, Inten.lew5 with personnel. and observalions by 1116 Inspector. The Inspection findings are 01$ follOv.'$ 

1. Based on the insJ)l;lclion flndlngs, 1'10 lliolaliof16 werO ;(londflod. 

2 	 PreviCV$ vlotallon(s) ClOsed" 

o 
3. The vlolallon(s), specifically <iescribed to you by the inspeclor all no....cited Y;olations, arE! not being cited becat."1>9 they Ylere self­

identified, non-repelltlv(!, and corrective amior, was Of Is balng tak.En, anti the lomainlng aiteris in the NRC Eflforcememt Policy. to 
exerclse di5creli0l1, were sati$fied. 

Non-dIM vlolation(s) were discussed involving the loilowjflll requiremenl(s) aod corrective action(s): 

4< 	 During this Inspection, certain of)'QUl' activities, as described below and/or atlactted, were Inlliolalion of NRC requireme'llS and are beirlg 
cite<! In accordance with the NRC EnfofCeme""t POlicy. This fOl1'l1 is <I NOTICE OF VIOLATION, Which may be sullied to posting In 
accordance with 10 CFR 1~U1_ (VIOlations and Corrective Actions) 

10 CFR 35,633(b) stales, in PliTt, that hili calibration measurements of high dose-rate remote aftarloader (HDR) 
units must include a datanninabon or Umer linearity over the typical range of use. 

Contrary to !he above, prior to February 8, 2012, Schnei<:ler Regional Medical Center did not include a oeterminaUon 

of timer linearity over lhe typical range of use In the fun calibration measurements of its HDR unit. Specifically, the 

licensee perfonned timer linearity measurements for 15 seconds vmen the typical range of use was three to ten 

minutes. 

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Enforcemenl Policy Section 6.3). 


Schneider Regional Medical Center performed linearity lasUng on February 8, 2012, from 5 seconds to 10 minutes 
and !he resutts indicated that the HDR unit was linear. The licensee also updated their forms to require the- longer 
test. 

Statement of Corrective Actions 
I hereby stale that, wl1t1in at) days. Ihe actions described by me to the InslHlctorwill be Iallen to eotrect the violations identified< This &\atoment of 
corrective .(:Iions is made In accordance wiltl ttle ;eQulremenlS of 10 CFR 2<201 (corrective sleps already taken, corrective steps YdlICI'I v.iU be takel'l, 
date when full compfaoo8 will be achlewd)< I understand thai ~ fur1her wrlt!l;lo response \0 NRC v.iillJe required. unles.s speoclfically f6quMtlld_ 

Title .• -l - Printed Name I < ~~._ Signature I Oate_ •• 

LICENSEE'S REPRESENTATIVE IAngela Rennalls·Atkinson, COO j~"-------- 3/12.- 17­

NRC INSPECTOR IPenny lanzisera 2128/12 
--_.< <-...<-.--+--------.--..""~ . 	 ..<----~ 

BFlANCH CHIEF Joseph Nick 3 {sl}2. 
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SUNSI Rllwiew Completed By: IRA/ 	 [;J Public Q Non-Sensitive 
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